THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 05 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

Hon. Shannon M. Phillips, Master-in-Equity

Case No.: 2022-001149

Derrick S. Hester, Debra S. Hester, James H. Nicholls, Emma Viola Nicholls,
James E. Gregg, Jr., Paulette J. Gregg, Michael Ben Coley, Ashley Coley,
Grady L. Barnes, Sr., Julia W. Barnes, Ewen Lennon, and Amy
Lennon,.....Respondents.

v.

Mark Razzano and Carre Razzano.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

Hon. Shannon M. Phillips, Master-in-Equity

Case No.: 2022-001149

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did the Master-In-Equity err in concluding that Appellants construction constitutes an “outbuilding” despite the word being ambiguous and/or undefined in applicable restrictive covenants and despite no express method of attachment or joining of two structures being prescribed?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents are a group of certain owners within the Solitude Bay Community in Spartanburg County, South Carolina (the “Community”). (R. pp. 8-11) Appellants are the owners of the real property and improvements located at 149 Whippoorwill Drive, Campobello, SC (the “Subject Property”) which are the subject of this appeal and the underlying case. (R. p. 8, ¶ 2) The Subject Property is located within the Community and is subject to restrictive covenants made applicable to lots within the Community recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Spartanburg County in Deed Book 39 N, beginning at Page 40 (the “Restrictions”). (R. pp. 8, 21-22)

In anticipation that the Appellants’ elderly parents would need assisted living, the Appellants desired to construct an addition to their pre-existing primary home, an attached three-car garage on Subject Property that includes space above the parking/storage/garage area containing basic amenities for living (the “Addition”). (R. pp. 8-11; R. pp. 30-39) The Appellants anticipated that once their elderly parents where in need of assistance, they would be able to move into the finished space of the Addition and that the Appellants would be able to take care of them (R. p. 133, lines 12-21).

The parties initially engaged in litigating the underlying case in 2018. The Respondents complained, *inter alia*, that the Appellants’ construction of the Addition and use thereof constituted a violation of paragraph six (6) of the Restrictions which provides, “[n]o trailer, basement, shack, garage, barn or other outbuilding erected on any lot shall, at any time, be used as a residence temporarily or permanently, nor shall any residence of a temporary character be permitted.” (R. pp. 15-16, ¶ 3, 7; R. p. 21, ¶ 6)

Respondents sought a permanent injunction prohibiting the Appellants from making residential use of the finished living space in the Addition. (R. p. 13)

The bench trial of the matter was held before the Spartanburg County Master-in-Equity, Honorable Gordon G. Cooper presiding, on February 25, 2020. At the time of trial, the Appellants had not completed construction of the Addition and the Appellants' primary residence had not been connected or attached to the Addition. Despite construction of the Addition being incomplete at the time of trial, the Trial Court's initial order (the "2020 Order") held, in favor of the Respondents, that, *inter alia*:

- (i) "At the time of trial, the Garage was not connected to the main residence..." (R. pp. 15-16)
- (ii) "I find that the Garage is an "outbuilding" within the language of Section 6 of the Covenants which provides that "[n]o trailer, basement, shack, garage, barn or other outbuilding erected on any lot shall, at any time, be used as a residence temporarily or permanently, nor shall any residence of a temporary character be permitted." (R. p. 16, ¶ 7)
- (iii) "Under the terms of the injunction, as long as the Garage remains unattached from the main residence, the Garage, including the living space above, may not be used as a residence, temporarily or permanently. However, I retain jurisdiction over this matter such that, in the event that the structures are joined, I will entertain a motion to rule on whether the construction, in this Court's determination, is such that the Garage no longer has the status of an outbuilding." (R. pp. 16-7, ¶ 8)

- (iv) “Defendants are permanently enjoined from using the Garage, including the living space above, as a residence, either temporarily or permanently. This Court retains jurisdiction over this matter and, should the Defendants attach the Garage to the main residence, Defendants may seek a ruling from this Court on whether the construction is such that, in this Court’s determination, the Garage no longer has the status of an outbuilding.” (R. p. 6, ¶ 1)

The 2020 Order was entered on April 9, 2020.

While the 2020 Order reserved jurisdiction over whether the Addition remained an “outbuilding” following post-trial completion of construction, the 2020 Order did not prescribe any method of attachment or construction to be used in causing the Addition to be attached or joined to the Appellants’ primary residence. (R. pp. 13-18) Following entry of the 2020 Order, Appellants attempted to receive guidance from the Hon. Gordon G. Cooper as to what the Court would consider adequate attachments such that the Addition would no longer be considered an “outbuilding”. (R. p. 24) The Trial Court declined to entertain the Appellants’ inquiries. Accordingly, Appellants caused construction of the Addition to be completed by their contractor, Stephen M. Poole Builders, Inc., without any guidance being provided to them by the Trial Court. (R. pp. 25-26; R. pp. 86-89, 95, lines 12-18)

On March 15, 2022, after construction of the Addition was complete and pursuant the Trial Court’s reserved jurisdiction, Appellants motioned requesting the Court rule that: (i) the completed Addition does not constitute an “outbuilding” as intended by the Restrictions; (ii) the Appellants may use the finished portions of the Addition for personal and family residential use, including for sleeping, bathing, and eating; and (iii) the use of the finished living space of the Addition as intended by the Appellants is not in violation of the Restrictions (the “Motion”). (R. pp. 8-11) By

the time Appellants' filed the Motion, the Hon. Gordon G. Cooper had retired and the Hon. Shannon M. Phillips assumed the role of Spartanburg County Master-in-Equity; the Motion was heard and ruled on by the Hon. Shannon M. Phillips.

The Court heard the Motion across two days on May 19, 2022 and June 28, 2022. At the hearing and in support of their position, Appellants introduced documentary and photographic evidence and presented testimony from Appellant, Carre Razzano and the Appellants' contractor, Stephen M. Poole of Stephen M. Poole Builders, Inc. The evidence presented and testimony provided by and/or on behalf of the Appellants demonstrated to the Court that: (i) construction of the Addition was complete; (ii) that the Appellants' pre-existing main residence had been attached to the Addition. (R. pp. 64-126; R. pp. 127-165) Respondents did not present any witnesses or evidence at the Motion hearing.

Notwithstanding the evidence and testimony presented on behalf of the Appellants, the Court entered its Order on July 22, 2022 (the "2022 Order") finding and ruling:

- (i) "I find that the Defendants have constructed a series of trellises or pergolas which have been attached at one end to the Main Residence and at the other end to the Garage by screws." (*emphasis added*) (R. p. 166, ¶ 2)
- (ii) "While there does not seem to be a case in South Carolina directly on point, cases from other jurisdictions provide compelling instruction. See, e.g., Barna v. Langendoerfer, 246 A.3d 343, 347 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2021) (finding a failure to comply with restrictive covenant requiring garage to be attached to house when garage was connected to house by pergola breezeway and did not share a wall); Scherer v. Antiquers Aerodome, Inc., 546 So. 2d 103, 104 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1989) (finding two hangars connected by a breezeway did not comply with a restrictive covenant limiting owner to one hangar)." (R. p. 166, ¶ 4)

- (iii) “I find the Main Residence and Garage do not share a wall or any interior space, such that one must go outside of the Main Residence to enter the Garage. I find that Garage has not been sufficiently joined to the Main Residence to form one residence building and the Garage remains an “outbuilding”.” (R. pp. 166-167, ¶ 5)

Following entry of the 2022 Order, Appellants pursued appellate review of the Court’s 2022 Order and issued their notice of appeal on August 16, 2022. Appellants contend that the lower Court erroneously found and/or held that the completed Addition was not attached in a manner such that the same no longer constitutes an “outbuilding” within the purview of the Restrictions. By virtue of the Addition now being physically connected, mechanically fastened and attached to the Appellants’ residence, it is the Appellants position that the Addition is merely an extension of or an addition to the Appellants’ residence, is not an “outbuilding”, and the finished space of the Addition may be used for residential purposes without being in violation of the Restrictions.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity.” *Seabrook Is. Prop. Owners Ass’n v. Marshland Trust, Inc.*, 358 S.C. 655, 661, 596 S.E.2d 380, 383 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also, Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 3, 498 S.E.2d 862, 864 (1998). “In equitable actions, the appellate court may make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Grosshuesch v. Cramer*, 367 S.C. 1, 4, 623 S.E.2d 833, 834 (2005); *see also, Townes Assoc. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). “The appellate court is not required to ignore the findings of the master when the master was in a better position to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses.” *Siau v. Kassel*, 369 S.C. 631, 638, 632 S.E.2d 888, 892 (Ct. App. 2006); *see also, Arcadian Shores Single Family Homeowners Ass’n v. Cromer*, No.

4223, 2007 S.C. App. LEXIS 98, at 5-6 (Ct. App. May 17, 2007).

“Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature.” *Hardy v. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006). “The language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it at the time of execution.” *Id.* A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible of more than one interpretation. *Hawkins v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 338, at 345 (1991)). “A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of the property.” *Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980) (citations omitted).

“Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, so that the paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document. The court may not limit a restriction in a deed, nor, on the other hand, will a restriction be enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later developed been foreseen by them at the time when the restriction was written. It is still the settled rule in this jurisdiction that restrictions as to the use of real estate should be strictly construed and all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property, subject, however, to the provision that this rule of strict construction should not be applied so as to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument. It follows, of course, that where the language of the restrictions is equally capable of two or more different constructions that construction will be adopted which least restricts the use of the property. A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by

plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.” *Taylor*, 332 S.C. at 4-5, 498 S.E.2d at 863-64 (internal quotations and citations omitted); *see also*, *S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001).

IV. ARGUMENTS

A. Did the Master-In-Equity err in concluding that Appellants construction constitutes an “outbuilding” despite the word being ambiguous and/or undefined in applicable restrictive covenants and despite no express method of attachment or joining of two structures being prescribed?

While judicial review of disputes regarding interpretation of restrictive covenants is not a novel issue in South Carolina, the specific facts of the matter before this Court do not appear to mirror those of any reported decision in this State. Paragraph six (6) of the Restrictions provides, “[n]o trailer, basement, shack, garage, barn or other outbuilding erected on any lot shall, at any time, be used as a residence temporarily or permanently, nor shall any residence of a temporary character be permitted.” (R. p. 162-163) At the time of trial, construction of the Addition was incomplete. (R. p. 31, ¶ 8; R. p. 34, ¶ 26-27) Although construction of the Addition was incomplete at the time of trial, the Trial Court found that the incomplete Addition constitutes an “outbuilding” such that the same may not be used as a residence either temporarily or permanently. (R. pp. 16-18)

Pursuant to the Appellants’ March 15, 2022 Motion, the lower Court was asked to review the Appellants’ completed construction and determine whether the Addition, in its completed form, was attached to the Appellants main residence such that the Addition no longer constitutes an “outbuilding” under paragraph 6 of the Restrictions; as held by the Trial Court. (R. pp. 8-11)

In reliance on case law from other jurisdictions, the lower Court held, “while there does not seem to be a case in South Carolina directly on point...I find the Main Residence and Garage do not share a wall or any interior space, such that one must go outside of the Main Residence to enter the Garage. (R. p. 166, ¶ 4-5) I find that Garage has not been sufficiently joined to the Main Residence to form one residence building and the Garage remains an “outbuilding.” (R. p. 166, ¶ 5)

The Restrictions are devoid definitions and/or descriptive provisions which prescribe what type of building or construction constitutes an “outbuilding” nor do the Restrictions set forth any provisions with respect to acceptable methods of construction or attachment. (R. p. 104, lines 9-22; R. pp. 162-163) Further, the Restrictions do not contain an architectural review or approval process the Appellants could follow to seek approval of their construction instead of blindly constructing improvements only for them to be deemed uninhabitable or unusable upon challenge by the Respondents. (R. pp. 162-163) Moreover, despite the Appellants requests, the Trial Court failed or was otherwise unwilling to set forth any criteria of what would be considered an adequate form of attaching the two structures to avoid further disputes regarding what does, or does not, constitute an “outbuilding.” (R. p. 24) Thus, the Appellants contend that the Restrictions are ambiguous and uncertain, leaving room for multiple interpretations such that they should be construed in favor of the Appellants free use of the Subject Property rather than the lower Court’s inequitable and more restrictive findings.

It is well settled law in this state that the law favors free use of property over restricted use. “The court may not limit a restriction in a deed, nor, on the other hand, will a restriction be enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later

developed been foreseen by them at the time when the restriction was written. **It is still the settled rule in this jurisdiction that restrictions as to the use of real estate should be strictly construed and all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property**, subject, however, to the provision that this rule of strict construction should not be applied so as to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument. It follows, of course, that **where the language of the restrictions is equally capable of two or more different constructions that construction will be adopted which least restricts the use of the property**. A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.” *Taylor*, 332 S.C. at 4-5, 498 S.E.2d at 863-64. (*emphasis added*)

During the May 19 and June 28, 2022 Motion hearing, the Appellants presented evidence that, *inter alia*:

- (i) showed the condition or status of construction at the time of trial and after completion of the Addition. (R. pp. 84-95, 108-110, 112-113; R. pp. 152-161)
- (ii) the Addition was defined by Spartanburg County Building Codes department as an “Addition of 2 BR Garage Apartment to Single Family House on New Septic”. (R. pp. 79-80; R. p. 151)
- (iii) the Addition was incomplete and not connected or attached to the Appellants primary residence at the time of trial. (R. pp. 84-95, 108-110, 112-113; R. pp. 152-161)
- (iv) following trial, the Addition had been attached and mechanically connected to the Appellants’ primary residence by covered walkway constructed of lumber and screws; the same having been testified to by Stephen M. Poole whom the Court admitted as an expert in the field of residential construction. (R. pp. 74, 84, 87-89, 95; R. pp. 152-

161)

- (v) established the Restrictions were absent any definition of what constitutes an “outbuilding” or what constitutes an acceptable attachment method such that a building does not fall into the category of an “outbuilding”. (R. pp. 104, 113, 162-163)

Instead of the lower Court relying on the evidence presented at the Motion hearing and the applicable South Carolina case law on interpretation of restrictive covenants in South Carolina, the lower Court looked to the case law of the Superior Court of Pennsylvania (*Barna v. Langendoerfer*, 246 A.3d 343, 347 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2021) and the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeals (*Scherer v. Antiquers Aerodome, Inc.*, 46 So. 2d 103, 104 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1989) to make its determination. (Order ¶ 4-6, July 22, 2022)

The cases relied on by the lower Court relate to building restrictions rather than use restrictions. In *Barna v. Langendoerfer*, a contempt case, the defendants’ property was subject to a deed restriction on building providing that “there shall be no other buildings, besides a residence with an attached garage, constructed on the property.” *Barna v. Langendoerfer*, 246 A.3d at 345. (*emphasis added*); “attached garage” being the term subject to the judicial review. The defendants in that case constructed a garage next to their residence but the garage initially did not connect to the defendants’ residence. *Id.* The Court ordered the defendants to “attach” the free-standing garage to the defendants’ residence. *Id.* at 345, 346. In attempting to comply with the court’s order, the defendants constructed a pergola/breezeway between their residence and the garage. *Id.* at 346. The court in *Barna* found that the term “attached” was ambiguous but sought to resolve the ambiguity by looking to the prevailing conditions existing when the covenant was made in 1973.

In *Scherer v. Antiquers Aerodome, Inc.* the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeals held the appellants were in violation of restrictive covenants providing “there shall not exist on any lot

at any time more than one residence and one hangar...” Scherer v. Antiquers Aerodome, Inc. 46 So. 2d at 104. (*emphasis added*) In that case the appellants had constructed multiple hangars on their property, thereafter attempting to attach the two hangars by breezeway in order to comply with the one hangar restriction. Notably, in *Scherer* the court alludes to the fact that the appellants had the ability to submit plans for approval by a board of directors governing such functions.

Unlike the *Barna* and *Scherer* cases, the issue before the lower Court did not arise out of the interpretation of a building restriction (what may or what may not be built) established by the Restrictions. There is no dispute, that the Appellants were permitted under the Restrictions to cause the construction of the Addition on the Subject Property. Rather, the issue before the lower Court was that of a use restriction; whether the finished space in the Addition could be used for residential purposes.

Despite the term “outbuilding” being undefined, the Trial Court determined that the incomplete Addition was, at the time of trial an “outbuilding”, an undefined or non-descript term within Paragraph six (6) of the Restrictions. (R. p. 4, ¶ 7-8) After trial, the Appellants completed construction and provided evidence of having attached the Addition to the Appellants’ primary residence on the Subject Property. (R. pp. 84-95, 108-110, 112-113, 118-120; R. pp. 152-161) The issue of attachment was not created by the Restrictions. (R. p. 104; R. p. 162-163)) Rather, the Trial Court provided the Appellants the ability to come into compliance with a use restriction on residential use (Paragraph six (6) of the Restrictions) by attaching the Addition to their residence and the Appellants attempted to comply with the 2020 Order by physically and mechanically attaching the Addition to their primary residence in a tasteful and structurally sound manner given topography of the Subject Property. (R. pp. 4-6; R. pp. 25, 88-89, 103, 132; R. pp. 151-161)

The Trial Court did not prescribe what construction means and methods may be employed to achieve the status of attached or joined nor do the Restrictions provide a process the Appellants could use to ensure the intended method of attachment or joining would be adequate or accepted. Furthermore, the Trial Court did not order the Appellants to perform construction in such a manner to form “one residence building” as the lower Court insinuates in the 2022 Order. (R. p. 166-167, ¶ 5) In presiding over the Appellants’ Motion, the lower Court was left to interpret two ambiguous terms and/or decide what constitutes “outbuilding” and what it means to “attach” or “join” two structures. Appellants contend each of those terms are capable of more than one interpretation or meaning such that they should be construed in favor of the free use of the Subject Property. Despite the ambiguous nature of the “outbuilding” and what it means to “attach” or “join”, the lower Court’s findings in the July 22, 2022 Order enlarge and/or broaden the restrictions on the Appellants use of the Subject Property rather than construe the ambiguities in favor of the Appellants free use.

Therefore, it was improper for the lower Court to find that the “Garage has not been sufficiently joined to the Main Residence to form one residence building and the Garage remains an “outbuilding.” (R. p. 166-167, ¶ 5) The standard established by the Trial Court was to attach (albeit in an undefined or unspecified manner) the Addition to the Appellants’ residence, not to “form one residence building”. (R. p. 166-167, ¶ 5) Furthermore, both the 2020 and 2022 Orders leave the term “outbuilding” undefined and continue to construe the ambiguous term in a manner which further restricts the Appellants’ use of the Subject Property. (R. pp. 1-9, 164-168) In light of the foregoing, and despite the good faith attempts to comply with the ambiguous terms of the Restrictions and 2020 Order, the Appellants have been left to spend substantial sums on constructing improvements that they remain unable to use as intended.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the lower Court erred in construing the Restrictions and ambiguities therein or arising therefrom against the free use of property and the lower Court's order should be reversed.