THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

The Honorable Shannon M. Phillips, Master-in-Equity
Case No.: 2018-CP-42-02247

Appellate Case No. 2022-001149

Derrick S. Hester, Debra S. Hester, James H. Nicholls, Emma Viola Nicholls,
James E. Gregg, Jr., Paulette J. Gregg, Michael Ben Coley, Ashley Coley, Grady
L. Barnes, Sr., Julia W. Barnes, Ewen Lennon, and Amy Lennon, Respondents,

v.

Mark Razzano and Carre Razzano, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

K. Jay Anthony
Kenneth C. Anthony, Jr.
650 E. Washington Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864.582.2355 p
864.583.9772 f
janthony@anthonylaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter centers on Appellants’ construction of the Garage, a structure containing a three-bay garage with a living space above consisting of 1,350 square feet, two bedrooms, two bathrooms, a full kitchen, and a separate entrance, the exterior of which is shown in the photos included in the Record on Appeal (Supp. R. p. 138). The Respondents, other owners within the Solitude Bay neighborhood on Lake Bowen, sought a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from making residential use of the living space in the Garage, alleging that this violated the applicable Restrictive Covenants.

This matter came before the Hon. Gordon G. Cooper for trial on February 25, 2020. Following the trial, Judge Cooper issued an order (the “Order”) which included a finding that the Garage constituted an “outbuilding” under the Restrictive Covenants. (R. p. 1 – 6). The Court therefore issued a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from using the Garage, including the living space above, as a residence, either temporarily or permanently. See id. The Court retained jurisdiction over this matter and allowed that, should the Defendants attach the Garage to the Appellants’ main residence (the “Main Residence”), they may seek a ruling from the Court on whether the construction is such that, in the Court’s determination, the Garage no longer has the status of an outbuilding and does not violate the Covenants. See id. at p. 6. Appellants’ Motion for Reconsideration was denied and no appeal was taken.

On March 14, 2022, Defendants filed a Petition for Post Judgment Relief & Declaratory Judgment (the “Petition”). (R. p. 8 – 11). The Petition cited to Judge Cooper’s Order and the provision retaining jurisdiction and sought a post-judgment ruling and/or declaratory judgment from this Court on the issue of whether the Garage had been sufficiently attached to the Defendants’ Main Residence such that the former no longer held the status of “outbuilding” and that the injunction as to the use of the Garage should therefore be lifted. See id.

At the hearing, Appellants presented evidence that, since the initial trial before Judge Cooper, they had attached the Garage to the Main Residence by a trellis. (R. p.87, ll. 7 – 13; R. p. 58, referenced at p. 87, ll. 2 – 9). Appellants called their contractor, Stephen Poole, who admitted under cross-examination that the Garage and Main Residence were only “mechanically attached” using “[l]umber and screws.” (R. p. 99, ll. 22 – 24). Mr. Poole further agreed that this was the full extent of the connection between the two structures:

Q. Right. But there is no – the electrical doesn’t go from one structure to the other, does it?

A. No.

Q. The plumbing doesn't go from one structure to the other, does it?

A. No.

Q. The HVAC doesn't go from one structure to the other, does it?

A. No.

Q. And this trellis doesn't have any walls on it, right?

A. No.

...

Q. All right. And if you go outside in the rain, if it is a light rain and it is falling straight down you might not get wet walking from one to the other, but if it is anything else you are going to get wet aren't you?

A. As in any breeze way.

(R. p. 99 – 100, ll. 25; 1 – 7; 20 – 23). Mr. Poole further admitted that the Garage was “completely self-sufficient”. See id. at p. 101, ll. 22 – 24.

Appellants then presented Carre Razzano who, on cross-examination, admitted that the two structures do not share water, sewer, electrical, or HVAC. See id. at p. 118, ll. 6 – 16. She further admitted that the structures have separate entrances and that the Garage has its own front door. See id. at p. 118, ll. 17 – 22. Mrs. Razzano also admitted that, at that very moment, the Garage was being used by her parents, the Tilmonts, who had even installed a sign over the front door of the Garage which read: “The Tilmont’s”. See id. at p. 119, ll. 13 – 22.

Following the conclusion of the trial, Judge Phillips ruled that “the Garage has not been sufficiently joined to the Main Residence to form one residence building and the Garage remains an ‘outbuilding.’” (R. p. 166 – 67). In making this ruling, Judge Phillips stated: “I find that the

photographs of the finished property are the most compelling evidence in this case.” See id. at p. 166. Appellants then filed this appeal.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Judge Phillips err in finding that the addition of a wooden trellis running between the two structures was not sufficient to change the character of the Garage from an “outbuilding”?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity.” See S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001). The grant of an injunction lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. See City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc., 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 581, 520-21 (2000). To enforce a restrictive covenant, a party must show that the restriction applies to the property either by the covenant’s express language or by plain unmistakable implication. See Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 270-71, 363 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1987). A Court shall enforce restrictive covenants unless they are indefinite or contravene public policy. See id. Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, and thus, the language used in restrictive covenants is to be construed according to its plain and ordinary meaning. See Hardy v. Aiken, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006).

DISCUSSION

I. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MERE ADDITION OF A WOODEN TRELLIS DID NOT CHANGE THE STATUS OF THE GARAGE FROM AN “OUTBUILDING”

A. Appellants Have the Burden

As noted above, Appellants did not appeal Judge Cooper’s order finding that the Garage constituted an “outbuilding” under the Restrictive Covenants. This is therefore the law of the case.

Judge Cooper included in the Order that he retained jurisdiction over the matter and “should the Defendants attach the Garage to the main residence, Defendants’ may seek a ruling from this Court on whether the construction is such that, *in this Court’s determination*, the Garage no longer has the status of an outbuilding.” See Order, p. 6 (emphasis added). Given this, Appellants have the burden of showing that (1) the two buildings have been attached and (2) that the attachment is sufficient such that the two structures are effectively one and the Garage is no longer an outbuilding.

B. Appellants Must Do More Than Show Attachment

Appellants seem to argue in brief that all that is required of them by Judge Cooper’s order is to mechanically attach the two structures in any manner whatsoever and they chide Judge Phillips for asking whether the attachment is sufficient to “form one residence building.” This is a clear misreading of Judge Cooper’s Order.

Appellants argued in brief: “The standard established by the Trial court was to attach (albeit in an undefined or unspecified manner) the [Garage] to the Appellants’ residence, not to ‘form one residence building.’” See Appellants’ Brief, p. 13. Yet Judge Cooper’s order very plainly states that once the Defendants attach the Garage to the Main Residence, the Court will then consider “whether the construction is such that, in this Court’s determination, the Garage no longer has the status of an outbuilding.” (R. p. 6). There is no way to read this language as merely requiring attachment. By looking at whether the attachment (here – a trellis) was sufficient to make the Garage and Main Residence into one residence, Judge Phillips was not committing error of law, she was following the language of Judge Cooper’s order which was not appealed by Appellants.

C. Evidence Amply Supports Judge Phillips’s Ruling

Furthermore, when the evidence from the trial before Judge Phillips is considered, there is ample support for her ruling. First, Judge Phillips stated in her order that she found “that the photographs of the finished property are the most compelling evidence in this case.” (R. p. 166). Many of these photographs are included in the Record on Appeal and within this brief and they speak for themselves. What Appellants chose to construct was a separate structure, distant from the Main Residence, and which appears for all intents and purposes as its own residence. The construction of a mere wooden trellis does not meaningfully change the appearance or character of the structures.

Second, testimony at trial buttressed the fact that the Garage remains an outbuilding. Mr. Poole and Mrs. Razzano agreed that the two structures do not share walls, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, or sewer. (R. p. 99, ll. 22 – 25; p. 100, ll. 1 – 7; 20 – 23; p. 101, ll. 22 – 24; p.55, ll. 6 – 16; p. 118, ll. 17 – 22). Further, it was established that – at the very moment that the trial was ongoing – the Garage was in fact being used as a separate residence by Mrs. Razzanos’ parents, who had even installed a sign over the front door of the Garage which read: “The Tilmont’s”. See id. at p. 119, ll. 13 – 22.

Given this, it cannot be said that Judge Phillips’s ruling was erroneous. There mere mechanical attachment of the structures using lumber and screws is not sufficient for Appellants to meet their burden of demonstrating that the Garage is no longer an outbuilding, under the Covenants.

D. Judge Phillips Did Not Err in Considering Case Law From Other Jurisdictions

Finally, it certainly was not error of law for Judge Phillips to consider case law from other jurisdictions in assessing whether the attachment was sufficient. Our courts consider such case law frequently and it is a common practice of the judiciary. Judge Phillips’s own research

demonstrates diligence, not error of law. To the extent that Appellants felt that the case law was not relevant or applicable, those arguments should have been raised to Judge Phillips in a motion to reconsider and not, for the first time, in the brief to the Court of Appeals. Instead, Appellants proceeded directly to file a Notice of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Appellants did not appeal the order of Judge Cooper, yet now complain of the alleged ambiguity and vagueness of the order. The place to raise this concern was in an appeal of Judge Cooper's order. As the Appellants did not appeal, they cannot now complain of the process. They bear the burden to demonstrate, not only that the two structures have been attached, but that they have been attached in such a manner that the buildings now constitute one residence. This they have failed to do through the mere construction of a wooden trellis and the lower court properly found that Appellants' Garage remains, under the law of the case, an "outbuilding" which may not be used for residential purposes. For these reasons, Respondents respectfully submit that the lower court ruling should be affirmed.